I. NATURE OF CASE, OUTCOME BELOW, AND RELIEF SOUGHT

A. NATURE OF CASE: 

(1) Appellant was an appointed officer of the duly enacted Meadow Bridge Sanitary 

Board (West Virginia Code § 18-13-1, et seq) and, as such, was serving his third three (3) year 

appointed term as Vice Chairman. 

(2) The Appellant was discharged by the town council for no specific reason or cause on 

September 21, 2015. 

(3) Appellant filed a Writ of Mandamus action asserting among other things that he was 

an "officer" as same is stated in West Virginia Code §§16-13-1, et seq; 16-13-18(a); 6-6-7.(a); 

West Virginia Constitution Article N, §§5 and 6; and pursuant to West Virginia Highlands 

Conservatory v. State Dev. Of Env't Protection, 193 W. Va. 85 (1995) and was not dischargeable 

without cause under West Virginia Code §6-6-7(a). 

B. OUTCOME BELOW: 

The Court below ruled the Appellant's position was not covered under West Virginia 

Code §6-6-7(a) and "cause" was not necessary in order to discharge him. 

C. RELIEF SOUGHT: 

Appellant seeks this Court to properly apply West Virginia Code §6-6-7(a) and order his 

reinstatement for wrongful discharge and grant his motion for Writ of Mandamus, including 

damages for lost wages, court costs, and attorney fees. 

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

A. "Interpreting a statute or an administrative rule or regulation presents purely legal 

questions subject to de novo review". Syllabus Pt. 1, Appalachian Power v. State Tax Dept. of 
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West Virginia, 195 W. Va. 573 (1995), Davies v. West Virginia Office a/the Insurance 

Commissioner, 227 W. Va. 330 (2011, Syllabus Pt. 2. 

B. A Circuit Court's entry of summary judgment is review de novo. Granfield v. Schmidt 

Baking Co., 199 W. Va. 447 (2000). 

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. ISSUE: 

(1) The Circuit Court wrongly determined that West Virginia Code §6-6-7 does not apply 

to Appellant, ruling the position of Sanitary Board member and/or Vice Chairman is not an 

"officer" as contemplated by said code section. 

(2) The Court wrongly did not consider West Virginia Code §6-6-8 in its analysis of 

whether the Sanitary Board was covered by West Virginia Code §6-6-7. 

(3) The Circuit Court wrongly elevated he Meadow Bridge Town Ordinance 

§3-112 over West Virginia Code §6-6-7. 

(4) The Circuit Court argues that In essence the Meadow Bridge Sanitary 

Board is too small to consider expending the resources the Appellant argues should 

be used to adjudicate the Appellant's case. There are numerous Sanitary Boards 

throughout the State of West Virginia of varying sizes, and the size of said Board 

has no bearing on the enforceability of West Virginia Code §6-6-7. 

B. WHY THIS COURT SHOULD REVIEW THE ISSUE: 

This Court should review this case because the Circuit Court's decision is 

plain error and the Circuit Court believes this Court should review same. See page 

11, last paragraph and page 12, first two lines of the Circuit Court's opinion, where 
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the Court believes said issue(s) should be reviewed, which states: 

As there is no case law directly on point the factual circumstances 
presented in the case at bar, and there is rather meager case law 
regarding how far the protections of §6·6· 7 may actually extend, it is 
unclear whether these facts would hold sway over West Virginia Supreme 
Court affirming or extending §6·6· 7 protections to officials that may 
appear to be upon the cusp of, or even far removed, from what this 
Court thinks was originally contemplated as the intended purpose behind 
the legislature's development of §6·6·7 procedural protections and 
safeguards. Based upon the existence of very limited precedence, it is 
clear to this Court clarification in the application of §6·6· 7 either by the 
legislature, or by the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, is both 
desired and necessary. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Meadow Bridge Town Council established a Sanitary Board pursuant to 

West Virginia Code §16-13-1, et seq, and adopted the required enabling ordinance, 

Section 17-113. See Exhibit A to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. 

2. Pursuant to said statute, Appellant was appointed to three (3) three-year 

terms as a Sanitary Board member. 

3. The last term began in June 1, 2015, when Appellant was sworn in by 

the Mayor of Meadow Bridge. See Oath of Office attached as Exhibit A to 

Petitioner's Response to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. 

4. After being sworn in as a Board member, Appellant was elected Vice 

Chairman of the Sanitary Board by the Board members. 

5. On or about September 21, 2015, the Meadow Bridge Town Council held 

a special meeting for the purpose of discussing "employee issues." 

6. The Town Council at the executive session voted to discharge Dwayne 
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Cales as Sanitary Board Vice Chairman pursuant to Town Ordinance, Section 3-112 

(See Exhibit B attached to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss); and Council sent a 

letter to Appellant advising he was discharged (See Letter attached as Exhibit B to 

Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Mandamus). 

7. The West Virginia Constitution, Article 13, West Virginia Code §6-6-7 

dictates the procedure that must be followed when an appointed municipal officer 

who has a stated term is to be discharged. Town Council knowingly violated said 

section. 

8. As stated herein, Appellant filed a Writ of Mandamus action III the 

Circuit Court of Fayette County. 

9. The Public Service Commission has on file at least 39 sanitary boards in 

West Virginia, including Charleston, Huntington, Beckley, Clarksburg, Fairmont and 

Meadow Bridge. 

10. The West Virginia legislature amended and rewrote West Virginia Code 

§6-6-7 III 1985. 

11. The West Virginia legislature amended West Virginia Code § 16-13-18 

effective March 12, 2015. 

v. ARGUMENT 

(1) The Circuit Court wrongly determined that West Virginia Code §6-6-7 does 

not apply to Appellant, ruling the position of Sanitary Board member and/or Vice 

Chairman is not an "officer" as contemplated by said Code section. 

The Circuit Court was clearly wrong when it determined West Virginia Code 

4 



§6-6-7 did not apply to Appellant's position as Sanitary Board member and Vice 

Chairman of the Meadow Bridge Sanitary board. The Court was wrong because it 

did not 

(a) construe West Virginia Code §6-6-7 in pari materia with West Virginia 

Code §6-6-8. The rule of pari materia applies in statutes which relate to the 

same subject matter and should be read and applied together so that the 

legislature's intention can be gathered from the whole of its enactments be 

given effect. Miller v. County Comm'n, 208 W. Va. 263 (2000). Even 

though the Appellant in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law argued 

same, the Court did not consider §6-6-8 in its decision. As stated below, §6

6-8 must be read in pari materia to give §6-6-7 its intended application. 

The court, body or officer authorized by law to appoint any person 
to any county, magisterial district, independent school district, or 
municipal office, a term or tenure of which is not IlXed by law, 
may remove any person appointed to any office by such court, 
board, body or officer, with or without cause whenever such 
removal shall be deemed by it, them or him for the good of the 
public service, and the removal of any such person from office shall 
be final. 

The headings of West Virginia Code §§6-6-7 and 6-6-8 clearly state the 

differences between the two sections: 

6-6-7. Procedure for removal of county, school district and 
municipal officers having fixed terms; appeal; grounds. 

6-6-8. Removal of appointed county, district or municipal officers 
without IlXed terms. 

For the Appellant to be covered under §6-6-7, he only has to show he was a 
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municipal officer with a fixed term. 

The Circuit Court found he was not a municipal officer using the case of 

Christopher v. City of Fainnont, 167 W. Va. 710 (1981): 

Syllabus by the Court: 
"Among the criteria to be considered in determining whether a 
position is an officer or a mere employment are whether the 
position was created by law; whether the position was designated as 
an office; whether the qualifications of the appointee have been 
prescribed; whether the duties, tenure, salary, bond and oath have 
been prescribed or required; and whether the one occupying the 
position has been constituted a representative of the sovereign." 
Syllabus Point 5, State ex rei Carson v. Wood, 154 W. Va. 397, 
175 S.E. 2d 482 (1970) 

Clearly applying the reasoning in Christopher, supra: 

1. The position of Sanitary Board member is created by statute §16
13-18( c). 

2. The position of Vice Chairman is designed as an office under 
statute §16-13-18( c) and the Ordinance Section 17-113. 

3. The statute requires a bond if same is required by the enabling 
Ordinance Section 17-113, which only requires a bond of the 
secretary/treasurer. 

4. The statute § 16-13-1, et seq, does not require an oath nor does the 
ordinance; however, the appellant was given an oath by the Mayor prior 
to taking office on June 1, 2015 (See Exhibit A to Petitioner's 
Response to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss.) 

5. The duties and tenure are prescribed by statute § 16-13-18( c) and 
the powers of the Sanitary Board, §16-13-3. 

6. The statute § 16-13-18( d) states how Sanitary Board members are to 
be paid. 

Thus, a thorough analysis under Christopher, supra, supports the finding that 

Sanitary Board members are "officers" as is the Vice Chairman of the Board. 
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Therefore, West Virginia Code §6-6-7 applies to Appellant SInce he was an officer. 

The statement by the Circuit Court that the Sanitary Board cannot bind the 

Town Council of Meadow Bridge is ludicrous. The Sanitary Board is created by the 

Town Council, thus by definition it is an entity of the Town Council. The statute 

and Ordinance Section 17-113 and West Virginia Code § 16-13-3 clearly provide that 

the Sanitary Board may hire, make contracts, etc. as an entity created by the Town 

Council, thus binding the Town of Meadow Bridge 

The mayor or city manager is the chairman of the Sanitary Board and two 

additional members are appointed by the Town Council to three (3) year terms, see 

West Virginia Code §16-13-18( c). The three Sanitary Board members elect a Vice 

Chairman from themselves. The Appellant was serving as Vice Chairman at the 

time he was discharged (without cause). This is an important fact because §16-13

22( c) states "The Vice Chairman, secretary and treasurer shall 'hold office' at the 

will of the Sanitary Board." The position of Sanitary Board member and, most 

definitely, Vice Chairman of the Sanitary Board, holds an "office" and, thus, by 

definition is an officer. 

It should be noted the Meadow Bridge City Ordinance creating the Sanitary 

Board, Section 17-113 "Ordinance Creating A Sanitary Board" at (3) specifically 

refers to board member and the Vice Chairman as "Officers" and importantly noted 

nowhere does the Ordinance (17-113) reference the termination of a board member. 

The Circuit Court goes out in "left field" and tries to create a case that 

because a Sanitary Board member does not do anything with the power of an 
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individual he cannot be an "officer"; that the fact he is only one of three 

individuals only acting as a board member disqualifies him as an officer. If this 

argument had any merit, as Counsel for Appellant, I cannot comprehend same. For 

example, a board of education member cannot act on his own to bind the board. 

A board by definition can only act as a board unless it has the power to delegate 

certain activities to be done with board approval. That in no way controls whether 

they are an "officer." 

The duties and powers of the Sanitary Board are clearly spelled out in the 

statute at §16-13-3. They are quite encompassing and all inclusive to running a 

sanitary board. The only power that is limited is committing to capital 

fundinglborrowing (see § 16-13-3, last sentence of first paragraph). 

The enabling statute, § 16-13-18 does not provide for an oath of office, but 

the Appellant was administered one by the Mayor of Meadow Bridge. (See Exhibit 

A to Petitioner's Response to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss.) 

The Sanitary Board has complete autonomy from the Town Council under the 

statute, § 16-13-1, et seq, with the exception of borrowing money to enlarge or 

improve facilities. See § 16-13-3, first paragraph, which states 

The board shall have power to take all steps and proceedings and 
to make and enter into all contracts or agreements necessary or 
incidental to the performance of its duties and the execution of its 
powers under this article. That any contract relating to the 
financing of the acquisition or construction of any works, or any 
trust indenture as provided for, shall be approved by the governing 
body of the municipality before the same shall be effective. 

Under §16-13-18(d), the Sanitary Board members are entitled to reasonable 
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compensation for their services, 

(d) The members of the sanitary board are entitled to receive 
compensation for their services either as a salary or as payments 
for meetings attended, as the governing body determines, and are 
entitled to payment for their reasonable expenses incurred in the 
performance of their duties. The governing body shall fix the 
reasonable compensation of the secretary and treasurer in its 
discretion, and shall fix the amounts of bond to be given by the 
treasurer. All compensation, together with the expenses previously 
referred to in this section, shall be paid solely from funds provided 
under the authority of this article. The sanitary board may 
establish bylaws, rules and regulations for its own governance. 

Of great importance is the last sentence which provides the Sanitary Board may 

establish its own bylaws, rules and regulations for its own governance. Thus, 

showing it is an independent organization from Town Council. 

In summary, the Meadow Bridge Sanitary Board is an independent board 

appointed by the Meadow Bridge Town Council to three (3) year full terms. The 

only limitation the board has is on borrowing money and setting the payments they 

are to receive for their services. The statute states they may establish their own 

bylaws, rules and regulations for its own grievance. 

Clearly, applying the reasoning of the case, the Sanitary Board members, 

especially, the Vice Chairman is an "officer" under the meaning of §6-6-7, which 

indicates that the Vice Chairman is an officer under Meadow Bridge Ordinance 

Section 17-113 

The Circuit Court argued that §6-6-7 is archaic; however, ignored the fact that 

the legislature rewrote §6-6-7 in 1985, thus the statute is not "archaic". 

The Circuit Court's reason in ruling that Meadow Bridge Ordinance 3-112 
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tmmps West Virginia Code §6-6-7 is just illogical. The Town Ordinance is 3-112 

entitled "Removal of Appointed Officers." The only way this ordinance is at all 

enforceable in light of West Virginia Code §6-6-7 is the ordinance is limited to 

"officers" who were appointed to no fixed term, thus they would be able to be 

terminated under West Virginia Code §6-6-8 without cause. 

The Meadow Bridge Ordinance does not define "officer"; however, the 

Appellee is estopped from arguing the Appellant was an "officer" because in order to 

terminate him under said Ordinance Section 3-112, he had to be an officer. Clearly, 

as stated above, the Appellant was a stated officer under the Meadow Bridge 

Ordinance Section 17-113 and could only be removed as Vice Chairman by the 

Sanitary Board. See §16-13-18( c) . 

... No officer or employee of the municipality whether holding a paid 
or unpaid office, is eligible for appointment to the sanitary board 
until at least one year after the expiration of the term of his or 
her office. The appointees shall originally be appointed for terms 
of two and three years respectively, and upon the expiration of 
each term and each succeeding term, an appointment of a successor 
shall be made in like manner for a term of three years. Vacancies 
shall be filled for an unexpired term in the same manner as the 
original appointment. Each member shall give bond, if any, as 
required by ordinance. The mayor or city manager shall act as 
chairman of the sanitary board, which shall elect a vice chairman 
from its members and designate a secretary and treasurer (but the 
secretary and treasurer may be one and the same) who need not 
be a member or members of the sanitary board. The vice 
chairman, secretary and treasurer shall hold office at the will of the 
sanitary board. 

This Court made the judicial notice there are at least 39 sanitary boards 

registered with the Public Service District including Charleston, Huntington, Beckley, 

10 




Fairmont. Clarksburg and others to name a few. The decision of this Court affects 

all the sanitary boards in this state regardless of size and budgets. 

If the legislature wanted to make §6-6-7 effective to only certain classes of 

municipalities or entities, it had the ability to limit §6-6-7 by size, either 

economically or population; but §6-6-7 does not provide for such a limitation In 

treating the same entities or bodies by size. The determination of whether a person 

is an "officer" is the only limitation, and the Appellant as indicated above was an 

officer who was wrongly discharged without cause and is entitled to reinstatement 

with all back pay, costs and attorney fees. 

CONCLUSION AND PRAYER 

The Appellant respectfully requests the Court to reverse the Circuit Court's 

decision and find the Appellant was an "officer" under West Virginia Code §6-6-7 

and is entitled to the procedures called for by said Code section. The Appellant is 

entitled to attorney fees and costs along with lost pay.