PRELIMINARY STATEMENT REGARDING PETITIONER'S BRIEF'S NON
COMPLIANCE WITH RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 

To be clear, Petitioner's contentions are wholly without substantive merit, bluster and 

pomp notwithstanding. While Petitioner goes to !,TJ'eat len!,rths to contlate a litany of issues, 

Judge Blake got it right: The Petitioner, a member of the town's sanitary board, did not hold a 

'municipal office' as contemplated by West Virginia Code 6-6-7(a), and was therefore not 

entitled to the procedural protections of the same. 

As an initial matter, however, Respondents would be remiss if they did not note that the 

Petitioner's Brief fails to comply with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. Most notably, the 

Petitioner's Brief fails to comply with many provisions of Rule 10 dictating the requirements of 

the parties' briefs to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals. Its brief does not even 

contain a statement on oral argument and decision as required by Rule 1O(c)(5) of the Rules of 

Appellate Procedure. Under Rule 10(j), this Court may, among other things, deny oral argument 

or even dismiss the case from the docket for failure to comply with Rule 10 brief requirements. 

In light of its failure to comply with appellate rules that have been in effect now for the better 

part of a decade, Respondents feel it would be appropriate, and specifically request, that this case 

be stricken from the docket. At the very least, Respondents request that Petitioner not be 

afforded an opportunity to present oral argument in light of its failure to give any statement 

regarding oral argument. In the Respondents' view, such failure should be viewed as a knowing 

and intentional waiver of oral argument by the Petitioner. 

SUMMARY RESPONSE 

Judge Blake's Order Denying Relief and Dismissing Petition for a Writ of Mandamus 

(the "Order") cogently and completely demonstrates both that he got it right, and that the 

Petitioner's contentions in this appeal are misplaced, at best. While the Order standing alone 
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demonstrates the silliness of Petitioner's claims (which Respondents incorporate by reference 

herein), Respondents submit this Summary Response to specifically address the assignments of 

error and arguments raised by Petitioner in its brief. 

A. 	 The Circuit Court did not err in concluding that petitioner did not have a clear legal 
right to protections and procedures of West Virginia Code § 6-6-7. 

Petitioner filed a writ of mandamus against Respondents. This court has been clear as to 

what a petitioner must show in order for the court to issue the extraordinary writ: 

'A writ of mandamus will not issue unless three elements coexist-(1) a clear 
legal right in the petitioner to the relief sought; (2) a legal duty on the part of 
respondent to do the thing which the petitioner seeks to compel; and (3) the 
absence of another adequate remedy. ' 

Syl. Pt. 4, Veltri v. Parker, 232 W.Va. 1, 750 S.E.2d 116 (W.Va. 20l3) (quoting Syl. Pt. 2, State 

ex reI. Kucera v. City of Wheeling, 153 W.Va. 538, 170 S.E.2d 367 (1969) (emphasis added). 

Petitioner contended he could be removed only by the procedures outlined in West Virginia 

Code § 6-6-7; those procedures include, among other things, removal for cause following an 

investigation and complaint by the county's prosecuting attorney, appointment of a three judge 

panel, a trial before said panel. W.Va. Code § 6-6-7(a), (b), (c). In order to prevail, Petitioner 

was required to clearly show that members of the sanitary board were "municipal office[rs]" 

under the Code. Id. at § 6-6-7(a) ("Any person holding any county, school district or municipal 

office ..." They are not. 

Throughout Petitioner's brief he complains and notes that he was Vice Chairman of the 

sanitary board, and that he held that 'office' of the sanitary board. See Petitioner's Brief p. 7. 

This conflates the issue. Petitioner assumes, that holding an 'office' at the sanitary board equates 

to holding a 'municipal office' for the purpose of West Virginia Code § 6-6-7. This line of logic 

is a complete non sequitur. Just because one might be an 'officer' on some board or authority, 
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does not clearly or necessarily make them a 'municipal officer' for purposes of West Virginia 

Code § 6-6-7. Other portions of his brief seem to acknowledge this obvious fact - that the town 

and the sanitary board are separate entities, and that being an officer of one does not necessarily 

make one an officer of the other. See Petitioner's Brief at 9 (acknowledging the town and 

sanitary board are independent organizations). Being an officer of a board or authority does not 

make one a 'municipal officer' for purposes of West Virginia Code § 6-6-7. 

He beats around it, but Petitioner's position boils down to this: If a municipality or 

county creates a board or authority - whether it be a garden club board, urban renewal authority, 

airport authority, sanitary board, or any of the other of the litany of boards and authorities that 

counties and municipalities have established over the years - then anyone appointed to that board 

or authority is a 'municipal official,' and if, for sake of convenience or otherwise, the county or 

municipality elects to set board members for a term of years, then they can only be removed for 

cause and under the procedures outlined in West Virginia Code § 6-6-7. If, on the other hand, 

these boards and authorities do not have a set term, they could be discharged willy-nilly with or 

without cause. See W.Va. Code § 6-6-8. 

Petitioner casts his case as affecting 39 sanitary boards only. See Petitioner's Brief at 10. 

The effects would be far more widespread. The ultimate question under Petitioner's theory is 

whether the position has a set term of years. If the answer is yes, then West Virginia Code § 6-6

7 applies. The effect of applying strictures of West Virginia § 6-6-7 to any county or municipal 

board whose members have a set term of years would constitute a dramatic sea change from the 

status quo and how localities function. 

Importantly, the enacting statute authorizing the creation of sanitary boards provides that 

"[t]he governing body shall provide by ordinance the organization of the board." W.Va. Code § 
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16-13-18. The West Virginia Legislature explicitly delegated the power to establish the 

organization and rules of the municipal sanitary boards to the municipalities' governing bodies, 

which they may establish "by ordinance." W.Va. Code § 16-13-18(a) ("The governing body 

shall provide by ordinance the organization of the [sanitary board] ...") (emphasis added). By 

delegating the authority of establishing the organization of the sanitary board to Meadow Bridge 

"by ordinance," the Meadow Bridge Code of Ordinances - including removal of appointed 

individuals in § 3-112 - applies to the individuals appointed to the sanitary board by the Meadow 

Bridge Town Council. 

While the sanitary board was, and is, authorized to "establish bylaws, rules, and 

regulations regarding its own governance" pursuant to West Virginia Code § 16-13-18( d), it did 

not. Since no bylaws or regulations were promulgated by the sanitary board regarding its 

governance or the removal of officers that would displace or supersede Meadow Bridge Town 

Ordinances, provisions related to removal of individuals appointed to the sanitary board in the 

Meadow Bridge Ordinance § 3-112 governs removal of individuals appointed to the sanitary 

board by Meadow Bridge's Town Council. Pursuant to Meadow Bridge Ordinance § 3-112, 

individuals appointed to positions by the Town Council may be removed by majority vote, which 

is exactly what happened here. 

As a corollary to the Legislature's delegation of authority allowing Meadow Bridge to 

establish the organization of its sanitary board under West Virginia Code § 16-13-18(a), the 

Order should be affirmed even if Petitioner was entitled to the protections ofWest Virginia Code 

§ 6-6-7, because West Virginia Code § 6-6-7(a) provides for dismissal on "any of the grounds 

provided by any other statute." Since the Legislature delegated the authority to establish by 

ordinance the organization of the sanitary board pursuant to West Virginia Code § 16-13-18(a), 
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Meadow Bridge Ordinance 2-113 provides !,Tfounds other than those otherwise provided by § 6

6-7(a) - i.e., majority vote ofthe town council. 

The Legislature delegated the organization of sanitary boards to municipality to 

determine by ordinance. Petitioner was dismissed per a town ordinance (that was not superseded 

by any bylaws created by the sanitary board). Additionally, Petitioner has provided insufficient 

support for his logical leap in presuming that an officer of a board or authority is also a 

'municipal officer.' The Petitioner has fallen woefully short of demonstrating a 'clear legal 

right' to the provisions and protections of West Virginia Code § 6-6-7 afforded to those holding 

'municipal office.' Judge Blake correctly denied the requested relief and dismissed the writ, and 

this Court should affirm the Order. 

B. 	 Petitioner's three other attacks on the Order are red herrings because 
Petitioner did not hold a 'municipal office' as contemplated by West Virginia 
Code § 6-6-1 et seq. 

The Order could have concluded following its conclusion that a sanitary board seat is not 

a 'municipal office' for purposes of West Virginia Code § 6-6-1 et seq. - whether it be West §§ 

6-6-7, or 6-6-8 for that matter. Since sanitary board membership is not a 'municipal office' 

under the applicable code provisions, whether the court explicitly discussed code provisions 

related to 'municipal offices' without fixed terms (i.e. W.Va. Code § 6-6-8) misses the point, 

again. Petitioner has never, held a 'municipal office' simply by virtue of his membership on the 

sanitary board, because sanitary board members are not municipal officers. He is therefore not 

entitled to the protections ofWest Virginia Code §§ 6-6-7 or 6-6-8. 

Similarly, because Petitioner did not hold a 'municipal office,' his protestations that the 

Circuit Court "elevated he [sic] Meadow Bridge Town Ordinance § 3-113 over West Virginia 

Code § 6-6-7" are misplaced. He did not hold a 'municipal office.' He was thus not entitled to 
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the protections of West Virginia Code § 6-6-7. The Circuit Court 'elevated' nothing. It simply 

applied the law correctly by concluding Petitioner did not hold a municipal office. Moreover, as 

discussed in the previous section, the legislature delegated the authority to "provide by ordinance 

the organization of the board," West Virginia Code § 16-13-18, and the Sanitary Board had not 

exercised its "power to establish bylaws, rules and regulations for its own government," id. 

Since no bylaws had been established and the legislature delegated the organization of the board 

to the town 'by ordinance,' Petitioner's removal pursuant to Meadow Bridge Municipal 

Ordinance 3-112 was entirely lawful and appropriate. 

All Petitioner's arguments essentially fall back on his flawed view that all that matters (in 

determining if an individual serving on a municipal or county board or authority can be removed 

only by the procedures outlined in West Virginia Code § 6-6-7) is whether the position has a 

fixed term of years. One does not hold a 'municipal office' because a mayor appointed him or 

her to a three year term on the town's beautification committee, but that is exactly what 

Petitioner's position is. As Judge Blake astutely observed in the Order: 

Extending such a heightened level of a protection to a member of a sanitary board 
is, comparatively speaking, akin to placing an elevator in an outhouse or killing a 
gnat with a gun; providing this level of protection [(the protections afforded by 
West Virginia Code § 6-6-7)] , and expending this level of resources and time, for 
the removal of a sanitary board member, simply does not fit. 

Order at 13 (emphasis in original). At bottom, Petitioner is asking for a rule that the statute does 

not require and that does not make sense. He simply has no 'clear legal right' to the relief he 

demands. 

Petitioner is correct that West Virginia Code § 6-6-7 was amended in 1985, but the 

statute is certainly archaic. Some stylistic and procedural revisions were made in 1985, but there 

is no indication the Legislature intended to broaden its scope or applicability beyond the narrow 
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class of individuals that § 6-6-7 has been traditionally applied. The statute's scope has remained 

constant and the Order's observations on the slippery slope in expanding the applicability of 

West Virginia Code § 6-6-7 are directly on point, the 1985 revisions notwithstanding. The 

parade-of-horribles detailed by Judge Blake toward the end of the Order are very real. Order at 

p. 12-13 (e.g. "The decision of an electorally checked and regulated governing body will be 

replaced by the yoke and bridle; the oversight and involvement ofthe executive branch as well as 

the already overburdened judicial system. The courts, rather than the electorate, will become the 

overseers shackled with the task of confirming the decisions ofthe governing body."). 

CONCLUSION 

A sanitary board seat is not a 'municipal office' as contemplated by West Virginia Code 

§ 6-6-1 et seq. As a result, he is not entitled to the protections or procedures of West Virginia 

Code § 6-6-7 (or § 6-6-8). The Legislature delegated the authority to establish the organization 

of sanitary boards 'by ordinance, ' West Virginia Code § 16-13-18, and Petitioner was removed 

in the exact manner proscribed by Meadow Bridge Town Ordinance 3-112. For all the foregoing 

reasons, and others apparent to this Honorable Court, Respondents request that the Order of the 

Circuit Court - that Petitioner did not meet its burden and demonstrate a 'clear legal right' to the 

relief requested - be affirmed.